I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS. The Second District 

Court's 2-1 decision, which certifies conflict with the decisions of two other District 

Courts of Appeal, and acknowledges conflict with a third, addresses a recurrent issue 

in cases involving arbitration--the issue of arbitrability, meaning who "decides 

whether a dispute is subject to a contract's arbitration provision, an arbitrator or a 

judge" (App. at 1 ). The ar~itration clauses in all of these cases are materially 

identical. But now, in the Second District the court will decide the question of 

arbitrability, while in the Third, Fourth and Fifth Districts, the arbitrator will do so. 

This conflict creates uncertainty and inconsistency on a significant issue: "[W]ho-

court or arbitrator--has the primary authority to decide whether a party has agreed to 

arbitrate can make a critical difference to a party resisting arbitration." First Options 

of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938,942 (1995). 

The action was brought against Petitioner Airbnb, Inc. by a Texas couple who 

were guests at a condominium in the area of Longboat Key, Florida, in which the 

owner had surreptitiously installed hidden cameras. The Plaintiffs alleged that 

Airbnb had failed to warn them of "past invasions of privacy" at other properties, and 

to "ensure that [the owner's] property did not contain electronic recording devices" 

(App. at 2). Airbnb moved to compel arbitration pursuant to its Terms of Service, see 

infra; the trial court ordered arbitration; the District Court reversed. 
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The relationship between Airbnb and users such as Plaintiffs is one of contract, 

whose terms are found in Airbnb's Terms of Service, to which its users must assent 

before they can book an accommodation through Airbnb 's online platform (see App. 

at 2-3). They do this by clicking on a checkbox, thereby assenting to the Terms of 

Service through what is called a clickwrap presentation, which contains a hyperlink 

to the Terms of Service, ~hich in turn hyperlinks the American Arbitration 

Association (AAA) Rules (see App. at 3): 

Dispute Resolution. 

You and Airbnb agree that any dispute, claim or 
controversy arising out of or relating to these Terms or the 
breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation or validity 
thereof, or to the use of the Services of use of the Site or 
Application ( collectively "Disputes") will be settled by 
binding arbitration. . . . You acknowledge and agree that 
you and Airbnb are each waiving the right to a trial by jury 

Arbitration Rules and Governing Law. The arbitration will 
be administered by the American Arbitration Association 
("AAA") in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration 
Rules and the Supplementary Procedures for Consumer 
Related Disputes (the "AAA Rules") then in effect, except 
as modified by this Dispute Resolution section. (The AAA 
Rules are available at www.adr.org/arb_med or by calling 
the AAA at 1-800-778-7879). The Federal Arbitration Act 
[FAA, 9 U.S.C. §§1-14] will govern the interpretation and 
enforcement of this section. 

Rule 7 of the referenced AAA Rules provided: "The arbitrator shall have the 
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power to rule on his or her own jurisdiction, including any objections with respect to 

the existence, scope or validity of the arbitration agreement or the arbitrability of any 

claim or counterclaim." See App. at 4. 

The Circuit Court held that the "'parties had entered into an express agreement 

which incorporated the AAA Rules, and ... this court is therefore bound to submit 

the issue of arbitrability to th~ arbitrator'" (App. at 4). The District Court reversed, 

applying the standard for interpreting the FAA endorsed in First Options, 514 U.S. 

at 943, in which the Supreme Court held that although typically "any doubts ... 

should be resolved in favor or arbitration," quoting Moses H Cone Memorial 

Hospital v. Mercury Construction Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1983), it had applied a 

stricter standard on the discrete issue of arbitrability in AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. 

Communications Workers of America, 475 U.S. 643, 649 (1986), holding that the 

agreement must "clearly and unmistakably delegate the question of arbitrability to the 

arbitrator in order to remove it from the trial court's responsibilities." 

The District Court held that Airbnb's "clickwrap agreement fell short of the 

clear and unmistakable evidence of assent that First Options requires" (App. at 14 ). 

It "recognize[ d] that our decision may constitute something of an outlier in the 

jurisprudence of arbitration" (App. at 14), acknowledging conflict with three other 

District Courts' decisions, and certifying conflict with two of them (see App. at 5, 16, 
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19). See infra. It also acknowledged conflict with six federal Circuit Court decisions, 

while citing no authority--Florida, federal or that of any other state--to the contrary 

(see App. at 5, 14-15). 

The District Court found support for its decision in five factors, none of which 

were considered to be persuasive by the Florida and federal courts whose decisions 

are in conflict: 

First, as in the contrary cases, the "agreement [Terms of Service] itself is silent 

on the issue of who should decide arbitrability" (App. at 12). Second, as in the 

contrary cases, "the AAA Rules were not attached to the agreement," which instead 
' 

"directed the [users] to AAA's website and phone number if they wished to learn 

more about what was in the AAA Rules" (App. at 13). Third, as in the contrary cases, 

"the AAA Rules ... were referenced in the clickwrap agreement as a generic body 

of procedural rules ... " (App. at 12). 

Fourth, the District Court found that the reference to the AAA Rules in the 

Terms of Service itself was ambiguous, in referring to them only as a determinant of 

how the arbitration was to be '"administered'" (App. at 12). It found this reference 

"necessarily conditional on there being an arbitration. If a claim is arbitrated, then 

the AAA Rules apply." As to arbitrability, however, it found this language "not a 

very helpful answer and not at all clear" (id.). But the same language did not forestall 
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the contrary decisions that the District Court acknowledged. 

Fifth, the District Court held that AAA Rule 7 was also ambiguous, in stating 

only that "[t]he arbitrator shall have the power to rule on his or her own jurisdiction" 

(App. at 13): "This Rule confers an adjudicative power upon the arbitrator, but it does 

not purport to make that power exclusive. Nor does it purport to contractually 

remove that adjudicative pov\:er from a court of competent jurisdiction." Here too, 

the same language did not forestall any of the contrary decisions. 

The District Court acknowledged conflict with Reunion West Development 

Partners, LLLPv. Guimaraes, 221 So. 3d 1278 (Fla. 5thDCA2017); Glasswall, LLC 

v. Monadnock Construction, Inc., 187 So. 3d 248 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 2016 

WL 3486432 (Fla. June 27, 2016); and Younessiv. Recovery Racing LLC, 88 So. 3d 

364 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012) (see App. at 5, 16, 19)--and it certified conflict with 

Reunion and Younessi: "Because we disagree with the conclusion [ of] those courts 

... we certify conflict with Reunion and Y ounessi to the extent they are inconsistent 

with our decision today" (App. at 19). 

Judge Villanti dissented, and "[a] dissenting opinion may be resorted to in 

determining whether or not a conflict exists." Autrey v. Carroll, 240 So. 2d 474,476 

(Fla. 1970). He wrote that "[ f]or better or worse, we, as a society, have decided to 

choose the speed and convenience of the Internet over more traditional modes of 
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communication. . . . [I]t should come as no surprise that contracting parties resort 

to incorporating material by reference--which in this instance includes the AAA Rules 

and specifically Rule 14(a), which allows the arbitrator to decide arbitrability in the 

first instance" (App. at 19-20).1 

Judge Villani disagreed that the agreement's reference to the AAA Rules "'is 

necessarily conditional on there being an arbitration"' (App. at 21): 

With respect to the application of Rule 14(a) this is 
illogical: The question of whether a claim is arbitrable 
must, by necessity, be determined before the 
commencement of arbitration. Thus, Rule 14(a) can only 
apply at the outset of a claim, not after the arbitration has 
already commenced. 

Judge Villanti also took issue with the majority's conclusion that the rule was 

ambiguous because it does not use the word "exclusive" (App. at 22-23) (emphasis 

in original): 

This ignores the obvious: the power to decide is the power 
to decide. To contend that the absence of the term 
"exclusive" ( or words to that effect) in relation to the 
arbitrator gives exclusive power to the trial court sub 
silentio to make that decision is, in my view, a stretch too 
far. Indeed, the word "exclusive," emphasized by the 
majority, does not appear at all in First Options . .. or in 

1By the time of the Plaintiffs' stay at the listing, the AAA Commercial 
Arbitration Rules, see supra p. 2, had been renamed the Consumer Arbitration Rules, 
which then became the reference in Airbnb's Terms of Service; and the arbitrator's 
jurisdiction was relocated from Rule 7 to Rule 14 (see App. at 20 n. 8). 
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[ numerous other cases] .... 

[T]he rule expressed in First Options ... is "clear and 
unmistakable," not "exclusive." These words do not mean 
the same thing. Here, the majority has created a new 
requirement that the contract must confer an "exclusive" 
power upon the arbitrator or arbitration panel to determine 
the arbitrability of an issue. This result is at odds with a 
substantial body oflaw; and I think the analysis leading to 
this outlier result is both hypertechnical and an 
unnecessary exercise in legal polemics. 

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT. The District Court cited no supportive 

authority-Florida, federal or state; acknowledged that its holding conflicts with the 

decisions of three other Florida District Courts; and certified conflict with two of 

them. And as we note below, two other uncited Third District decisions also conflict. 

This is not the time to debate the question of which side of the argument is more 

persuasive, which hopefully will be the subject of this Court's review on the merits: 

What is important here is the need to resolve the acknowledged inter-district conflict, 

in order to avoid inconsistency and confusion on an important question that arises 

repeatedly in disputes concerning arbitration. 

III. ARGUMENT.2 In Reunion West Development Partners, LLLP v. 

2"The principal situations justifying the invocation of our jurisdiction to review 
decisions of [a] Court of Appeal because of alleged conflict are ( 1) the announcement 
of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court or (2) 
the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves 
substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case disposed of by this Court." 
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Guimaraes, 221 So. 3d 1278 (Fla. 5th DCA 2017), a home purchase agreement said 

that disputes "will be resolved by binding arbitration pursuant to the [FAA] ... 

conducted in accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the 

[AAA] and the terms of this agreement." They provided: "The arbitrator shall have 

the power to rule on his or her own jurisdiction, including any objections with respect 

to the existence, scope or vali_dity of the arbitration agreement." The District Court 

held, id. at 1280: "Where, like here, the language of the contract clearly states that 

AAA rules govern, then said rules are expressly incorporated into the contract .. . , 

and those rules provide that the arbitrator is authorized to rule on the arbitrability of 

the instant contract." As here, the Reunion West contract incorporated the AAA 

Rules in general--not any specific provision--and provided that the arbitrator was 

"authorized" to rule on the issue of arbitrability. 

Likewise in Younessi v. Recovery Racing, LLC, 88 So. 3d 364, 365 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2012 ), in which the dispute was about how the arbitrator would be selected, the 

contract "expressly stated that any dispute arising from it was to be arbitrated under 

AAA Rules. Even though the contract does not specify how the arbitrator is to be 

selected, AAA rules have a procedure to be followed . ... for the selection of an 

arbitrator [which] should have been followed." 

Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960) ( emphasis in original). 

8 

JOEL S. PERWIN, P.A. 
1680 Michigan Avenue, Suite 700, Miami Beach, Florida 33139 ° Tel (305) 779-6090 ° jperwin@perwinlaw.com 



In Rintin Corp., S.A. v. Domar, Ltd., 766 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), the 

shareholders' agreement provided that any controversy "will be submitted to 

arbitration ... according to the provisions of the Florida International Arbitration Act 

(FIAA) and the rules of the [AAA]." The FIAA provides that "whether the dispute 

is arbitrable ... shall be for the arbitral tribunal to decide." §684.22(1), Fla. Stat. 

Citing First Options, the court held (id. at 409): 

[A]lthough the parties did not include specific language 
indicating that the issue of arbitrability of a dispute will be 
submitted to an arbitral panel, they did include a specific 
reference to the FIAA which contains such a provision. 
The inclusion of this reference is "clear and unmistakable" 
evidence of the parties' intent to be governed by the FIAA 
and its provision requiring the submission of the issue of 
arbitrability of a dispute to the arbitral panel. [3l 

3Two additional Third District decisions also conflict. In Glasswall LLC v. 
Monadnock Construction, Inc., 187 So. 3d 248 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 2016 WL 
3486432 (Fla. June 27, 2016), the parties agreed that if mediation failed, "the method 
of binding dispute resolution" would be arbitration to be "administered by the [AAA] 
in accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules .... " Rule R.9(a) 
provided: "The arbitrator shall have the power to rule on his or her own jurisdiction, 
including any objections with respect to the existence in, scope or validity of the 
arbitration agreement." The court relied upon Rintin, in which the contract, "like the 
one presently before us, did not include specific language indicating that the issue of 
arbitrability of a dispute would be submitted to an arbitral panel but did incorporate 
a reference to Florida's International Arbitration Act." This was "'clear and 
unmistakable'" evidence that the parties intended that arbitrability be decided by the 
arbitral panel ... . " Id. at 251. 

In Miami Marlins, L.P. v. Miami-Dade County, 276 So. 3d 936 (Fla. 3d DCA 
2019), the contract between Miami-Dade County, the City of Miami, and the Miami 
Marlins called for the arbitration of "any disagreements," and incorporated arbitration 

9 

JoBL S. PERWIN, P.A. 
1680 Michigan Avenue, SUite 700, Miami Beach, Florida 33139 ° Tel (305) 779-6090 • jperwin@perwinlaw.com 



As the District Court acknowledged, these decisions directly and expressly 

conflict with its holding. The contracts or statutes in these cases contained arbitration 

clauses that referenced AAA Rules in general, without citing to the specific provision 

addressing who decides arbitrability. And the incorporated rules or statutes in these 

cases did not say either that the arbitrator had the "exclusive" authority to decide that 

issue, or that a trial court did not have such authority. 

As a result, in cases that are factually indistinguishable, the question of 

arbitrability will be decided by the arbitrator in three Florida Districts, but by the 

court in one Florida District, on an issue that "can make a critical difference to a party 

resisting arbitration." First Options, 514 U.S. at 942. It is central to this Court' s 

jurisdiction that such inter-district conflict be resolved. 

IV. CONCLUSION. It is respectfully submitted that this Court should 

exercise its discretion to resolve the acknowledged conflict in the instant case. 

provisions contained in a different agreement made between the City, the County, and 
a different Marli_ns entity. That other agreement in turn incorporated the Commercial 
Arbitration Rules of the AAA, including Rule 7, giving the arbitrator "the power to 
rule on his or her own jurisdiction, including . . . the arbitrability or any claim or 
counterclaim." The court held: "In the abundant Florida and federal case law 
pertaining to the threshold decisions arising between judges and arbitrators regarding 
the scope of their respective jurisdictions, this AAA Rule makes the arbitration panel 
the gateway for determinations regarding arbitrability [citing Glasswel[J."