STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS 

The issue in this case is arbitrability; that is, “who decides whether a dispute 

is subject to a contract’s arbitration provision: an arbitrator or a judge.” (A. 1). The 

law presumes that this is a decision for the trial court. (A. 7) (citing First Options of 

Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 943 (1995)). That presumption can only be 

overcome if a moving party presents “clear and unmistakable” evidence that the par-

ties intended to send the question of arbitrability to an arbitrator. (A. 7). 

To satisfy this clear-and-unmistakable standard at the trial court, the Peti-

tioner, Airbnb, Inc., relied on the parties’ online clickwrap agreement, which was 

formed when the Respondents, John and Jane Doe, clicked a box saying they would 

“agree” to Airbnb’s terms and conditions. (A. 3). The agreement did not say who 

would decide arbitrability. All it said was this: “The arbitration will be administered 

by the American Arbitration Association (‘AAA’) in accordance with the [AAA 

rules] then in effect, except as modified by this ‘Dispute Resolution’ section. (The 

AAA Rules are available at www.adrorg/arh_med or by calling the AAA at 1-800-

778-7879.)” (A. 3-4).  

Airbnb maintained that the Does should have tracked down, and then read, 

the AAA rules—all 22 pages of them—and that the Does, had they done so, would 

have found Rule 7, which states that “[t]he arbitrator shall have the power to rule on 
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his or her own jurisdiction, including any objections with respect to…the arbitrabil-

ity of any claim.’” (A. 4). The trial court accepted that this language was clear and 

unmistakable evidence of the Does’ intent. (A. 4-5). 

The Second District Court of Appeal disagreed, for a few reasons. To start 

with, “conspicuously missing” from the clickwrap agreement is any mention of 

“who should decide arbitrability.” (A. 12). And while the agreement does provide 

that arbitration will proceed “in accordance” with the AAA rules, that “directive is 

necessarily conditional on there being an arbitration” already underway. (A. 12-13). 

It does not say who should decide whether a dispute should be sent to arbitration in 

the first place.  

Also, Rule 7 says only that that an arbitrator has “the power” to decide arbi-

trability. (A. 13-14). “This tells the reader almost nothing, since a court also has the 

power to decide such issues, and nothing in the AAA rules states that the AAA ar-

bitrator, as opposed to the court, shall determine those threshold issues, or has ex-

clusive authority to do so.” (A. 14) (quoting Ajamian v. CantorCO2e, L.P., 137 Cal. 

Rptr. 3d 773, 790 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis in original)).  

Accordingly, the Second District held that the clickwrap agreement was not 

clear and unmistakable evidence: 

In the case at bar we have an arguably permissive and 
clearly nonexclusive conferral of an adjudicative power to 
an arbitrator, found within a body of rules that were not 
attached to the agreement, that itself did nothing more than 
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identify the applicability of that body of rules if an arbitra-
tion is convened. That is not “clear and unmistakable evi-
dence” that these parties agreed to delegate the “who de-
cides” question of arbitrability from the court to an arbi-
trator. To the contrary, the provision Airbnb relies upon is 
two steps removed from the agreement itself, hidden 
within a body of procedural rules, and capable of being 
read as a permissive direction. It is at best ambiguous.  
 

(A. 19).  

The Second District acknowledged that its holding was an “outlier,”1 but 

noted that no other court—Florida or federal2—had “ever examined how or why the 

mere ‘incorporation’ of an arbitration rule such as the one before us . . . satisfies the 

heightened standard the Supreme Court set in First Options, nor how it overcomes 

the ‘strong pro-court presumption’ that is supposed to attend this inquiry.” (A. 16).  

The Second District went on to certify conflict with the Third and Fifth Dis-

tricts, “[b]ecause we disagree with the conclusion those courts appeared to reach 

concerning what constitutes sufficient clarity and unmistakability of intent to have 

an arbitrator, rather than a court, resolve questions of arbitrability.” (A. 19).   

 

 
1 Airbnb states that the Second District did not identify any “authority—Florida, 
federal or that of any other state” supporting its position. (Pet. Jur. Br. 4). This is 
incorrect: the panel cited to a Ajamian, 137 Cal. Rptr. at 790, which took the same 
position. (A. 14). Other state appellate courts have reached similar holdings. See 
Glob. Client Sols., LLC v. Ossello, 382 Mont. 345, 355 (2016); Burlington Res. Oil 
& Gas Co. LP v. San Juan Basin Royalty Tr., 249 S.W.3d 34 (Tex. App. 2007). 
 
2 The United States Supreme Court has not yet addressed this issue. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court should not accept jurisdiction for three reasons. First, the law on 

the contractual language at issue is underdeveloped and under-analyzed. This Court 

should decline review and allow the law to develop more fully before addressing the 

conflict. Second, the issue here is not of pressing importance, and any uncertainty 

created by the conflict is easily remedied by contracting parties. Third, this case may 

be decided on a fact-specific, alternative basis that is unrelated to the conflict issue, 

making this case a poor vehicle for resolving that conflict.  

ARGUMENT 

I. This Court should decline jurisdiction. 

The Second District certified an inter-district conflict. Thus, this Court could 

review this case. But this Court’s jurisdiction is not mandatory. It is discretionary. 

Art. V, § 3(4), Fla. Const.; see Harry Lee Anstead et. al., The Operation and 

Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida, 29 NOVA L. REV. 431, 485 (2005) 

(discussing how this Court may decline “to hear any case falling within a discretion-

ary category” if “the case does not present a significant issue or the result [is] essen-

tially correct”). This Court should not exercise that discretion here, for three reasons.  

First, this Court should allow the law to fully develop before addressing the 

conflict issue in this case. While the Second District’s ultimate holding conflicts with 

holdings from other district courts of appeal, it is not clear why this conflict exists. 
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That is because the Second District was the first appellate court in Florida to devote 

any analysis to the issue. (A. 16).  

That is why Airbnb, in its jurisdictional brief, finds it necessary to use the 

dissenting opinion below to explain the reason for the conflict. (Pet. Jur. Br. 5). Ac-

cording to Airbnb, this is permissible: “A dissenting opinion may be resorted to in 

determining whether or not a conflict exists.” Id. But Airbnb is wrong. “Conflict 

between decisions . . . must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. 

Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdic-

tion.” Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); see also Persaud v. State, 

838 So. 2d 529, 532 (Fla. 2003). 

Airbnb’s mistake was relying on an outdated case, Autrey v. Carroll, 240 So. 

2d 474, 476 (Fla. 1970), which was decided before the adoption of the 1980 consti-

tutional amendment that redefined the contours of this Court’s conflict jurisdiction. 

See Reaves, 485 So. 2d at 830; Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980). 

Under that constitutional framework, dissenting opinions can play no part in estab-

lishing jurisdiction. Id. 

And without the dissenting opinion, there is no conflicting analysis to com-

pare against the Second District’s reasoning below. The appellate decisions identi-

fied by Airbnb do not examine, at all, how the contractual language at issue could 

constitute clear and unmistakable evidence of a party’s intent. See Reunion West 
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Development Partners, LLLP v. Guimaraes, 221 So. 3d 1278 (Fla. 5th DCA 2017); 

Glasswall, LLC v. Monadnock Construction, Inc., 187 So. 3d 248 (Fla. 3d DCA 

2016); Younessi v. Recovery Racing LLC, 88 So. 3d 364 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012).  

Allowing Florida law to further develop will provide this Court a better back-

drop against which to decide this conflict. Further development will also allow other 

district courts to consider the well-reasoned majority opinion below, along with re-

cent authorities that have taken a similar position. E.g., Glob. Client Sols., LLC, 382 

Mont. at 355 (holding that contract’s reference to AAA rules “falls far short of the 

required clear and unmistakable standard” and “cannot displace the prevailing rule 

that the validity of the arbitration clause is to be determined by the court”) (emphasis 

in original); Restatement (Third) U.S. Law of Int’l Comm. Arb. § 2-8 TD No 4 

(2015) (“reject[ing] the majority line of cases” because arbitral rules do not “give 

arbitrators the exclusive authority” to decide arbitrability).  

Second, despite Airbnb’s arguments to the contrary, there is no pressing need 

to resolve the conflict here. To be sure, the inter-district split affects Airbnb and any 

other companies employing the same “incorporation” language at issue in this case. 

But these companies can—and will—write contracts that clarify the ambiguity iden-

tified by the Second District. It is an easy fix. All it takes is a single sentence provid-

ing that an arbitrator, and not a court, will decide whether claims are arbitrable. Other 

companies have articulated this simple-enough concept. E.g., Rent-A-Center, W., 
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Inc. v. Jackson, 561 U.S. 63, 66 (2010) (interpreting arbitration clause stating that 

arbitrator “shall have exclusive authority to resolve any dispute”); Reyna v. Int’l 

Bank of Commerce, 839 F.3d 373, 378 (5th Cir. 2016) (arbitration provision stated 

that “arbitrator shall have the exclusive authority to determine” arbitrability).  

If this Court does not immediately resolve this conflict, companies like Airbnb 

may be prompted to include the same clarifying language in their contracts. This 

would not be such a bad thing. After all, clarity and unambiguity are the guideposts 

set by the United States Supreme Court, and contracting parties should endeavor to 

remedy less-than-crystalline provisions. Indeed, “[i]t is perplexing that a party who 

has thought about this issue [of arbitrability] would not spell it out in such a way that 

would put all doubts to rest.” Joseph L. Franco, Casually Finding the Clear and 

Unmistakable: A Re-Evaluation of First Options in Light of Recent Lower Court 

Decisions, 10 LEWIS & CLARK L. REV. 443, 479-80 (2006).  

Third, this case is a poor vehicle for addressing the conflict. That is because 

this case can be decided on a separate, fact-specific basis. Namely, that the Does 

were unsophisticated consumers who could not possibly have understood that the 

clickwrap agreement’s mere reference to the AAA rules was meant to delegate arbi-

trability to an arbitrator. The Does raised this as an alternative issue on appeal below, 

which the Second District did not need to address.  
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The Does’ lack of sophistication muddies things, because the majority of ap-

pellate courts to address the “incorporation” language at issue here did so “in the 

context of arbitration agreements entered into by organizations, not unsophisticated 

individuals.” Allstate Ins. Co. v. Toll Bros., Inc., 171 F. Supp. 3d 417, 427-28 (E.D. 

Pa. 2016). It thus remains an “open question”—under both Florida and federal law—

whether referencing arbitral rules may serve as clear and unmistakable evidence of 

an unsophisticated party’s intent. Id.  

But many (if not most) federal district courts to address this question have 

answered it in the negative, holding that “incorporation of the AAA rules [is] insuf-

ficient to establish delegation in consumer contracts involving at least one unsophis-

ticated party.” DeVries v. Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 2017 WL 733096, at *10 (N.D. 

Cal. Feb. 24, 2017); see, e.g., Calzadillas v. Wonderful Co., LLC, 2019 WL 2339783, 

at *4 (E.D. Cal. June 3, 2019); Chong v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 2019 WL 1003135, at *10 

(E.D. Pa. Feb. 28, 2019); Takiedine v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 2019 WL 934994, at *10 (E.D. 

Pa. Feb. 25, 2019); Stone v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 2019 WL 247540, at *10-*11 

(D. Md. Jan. 17, 2019); Richardson v. Coverall N. Am., Inc., 2018 WL 4639225, at 

*4 (D. N.J. Sept. 27, 2018); Toll Bros, 171 F. Supp. 3d at 427-28. 

This non-conflict issue was not present in the cases relied on by Airbnb. Ac-

cordingly, this Court should not waste scarce judicial resources deciding the conflict 

in this case.  
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CONCLUSION 

This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction in this case.